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The situation in postwar Europe in 
the. late 1940s and early 19505 
offered· many opportunities for 
exploitation. Just as black-marketeers 
[Ook advantage of material shonages, 
others sold information to the com­
peting powers. As tensions mounted 

. between the Western Allies and the 
Soviet Union, the rubble-strewn cit­
ies of Europe, especially those in 
Germany and Austria, became an 
"intelligence jungle." (U) 

One retired CIA officer recalled 
years later that "the inevitable result, 
in cold and hungry Europe of the 
time, was a proliferation of paper­
mills such as had never been seen in 
Europe's history. To those of us try­
ing to make sense of it all, it seemed 
that every down-at-heel veteran of 
the Abwehr, the Gestapo, RSHA 
Arnt VI, and all the Fascist organiza­
tions of Central and Southern 
Europe was peddling fabricated infor­
mation sources to notional spy 
networks, and that CIC, MIS, the 

. British FSS, the Austrian Stapo, the 
Foreign Service's Peripheral Reports 
Officers, the Grumbach organiza­
tion, the Gehlen organization, the 
Italian Carabinieri, Amt Blank, the 
French SDECE, and Radio Free 
Europe all were elbowing and shov­
ing each other to buy the stuff, like 
so many women in Macy's basement 
on the day after Christmas." I (U) 

The CIA generally avoided most of 
these intelligence fabricitors, 
although it did fall victim to a num­
ber of scams. 2 Decades later, the 
bona fides of some CIA agents 
recruited during this period are still 
the subject of conjecture and 
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debate.3 Otto Albrecht Alfred von 
Bolschwing, a Prussian-born Nazi 
officer, is a case in point. Personality 
issues and doubts about his overall 
usefulness marred his work for CIA 
in Austria. Yet, the Agency failed to 
resolve these matters and even 
brought Bolschwirtg to the United 
States. Bolschwing's presence in 
America subsequently attracted the 
attention of the Department of Jus­
tice, the GAO, and the US Congress 
decades after his espionage role. (U) 

The Gehlen Connection 

During the Allied occupation of Ger­
many and Austria, it was not 
uncommon for American Intelli­
gence agencies to share assets with 
the Gehlen organization, the nascent 
West German intelligence service. As 
early as 1948, one CIA officer 
reported that the Germans "took 
over some of the informants dropped 
by Mun'ich.operations base after it 
had .been conclusively established 
that the intelligence they furnished 
was of no value whatsoever.,,4 The 
US Army's Counter Intelligence 
Corps (CIC) and the Military Intelli­
gence Service (MIS) also picked up 
agents when they had been dropped 
by CIA's predecessors, the OSS, the 
Strategic Services Unit (SSU), and 
the Central Intelligence Group 
(CIG). As early as December 1946, 
Headquarters told counterintelli­
gence officials in Germany that "we 
believe our best policy would be steer 
clear of it and let such agents and 
informers who are being lured away 
by higher inducements go their 
merry way. I t seems a shame that 
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anyone is willing to pay so much for 
very low grade and mosrly unverifi­
a,bl,e information." 5 (S) 

As the Cold War intensified, the 
GeWen org'anization, known initially 
by its codename RUSTY, became an 
important player in the intelligence 
war in Western Europe. The Ger­
mans, in particular, claimed to have 
l~nique access to intelligence behind 
the Iron Curtain. Mter the Agency 
assumed responsibility for the Ger­
man intelligence organization in mid-

. 1949, the Agency needed more infor­
macion about Gehlen's personnel 
and operations.6 In fact, both the 
ClA and the US Army in Germany 
conducted their own separate intelli­

"gence-gathering operations against ' 
Gehlen throughout the eady 19505.7 
The Agency also kept a close eye on 
known German intelligence agents 
and, in one important case, took 
over a top Gehlen agent and made 
him a CIA source. (S) 

Gaining control of one of Gehlen's 
agents presented an unusual opponu­
nity for CIA, coming at a time when 
ClA had just recently assumed 
responsibility for ODEUM (CIA's 

n~~.J..~cipn~t;rmf~r R!1~m~ 
Thngency wanted to curb GefJen's 
appetite for expansion, particularly 
in AUstria, which was also occupied 

, by the four Allied powers. Thomas 
'A.' Lucid, a CIA officer assigned to 
Gehlen's headquarters in Pullach, 
wrote in late 1949 that "ODEUM 
should not be allowed to build, plan, 
or even desire to extend itself into 
Austria, whether as a little Austrian 
ODEUM or as a branch of the Ger­
man ODEUM, with recognition 
from or penetration into the Aus-
trian Government in the least 
comparable to the recognition and 
relative position they hope to achieve. :' 
here in Germany." ODEUM's 
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activities in Austria, "if at all, it must 
be restricted to a low-level, purely 
operational favor-for-favor horse­
trading basis. ,,8 (S) 

Coming to CIA's Attention 

Otto Albrecht Alfred von 
Bolschwing seemed an ideal candi­
date for CIA recruitment. He was 
urbane and friendly, spoke and wrote 
English well, and offered unique 

'\ 
insights into ODEUM's' foreign 
intelligence activitie1i. Operating in 
Austria, Bolschwing had reestab­
lished his wartime ties to members of 
the Iroq Guard, a Rumanian Fascist 
group, scattered throughout south­
ern Europe. Bolschwing had joined 
RUSTY in 1947, although he gradu­
ally fell out of Gehlen's favor by 
1950 because of his unwillingness to 
provide Pullach with operational 
information'. Throughout 1949 and 
1950, CIA debated whether to pick 
up Bolschwing from ODEUM and 
use him as an American source. (S) 

In a late 1949 memorandum, Lucid' 
discussed the future of American 
intelligence in Austria with Richard 
Helms, the chief of Foreign Branch 
M responsible for central Europe. 
Otto von Bolschwing figured promi­
nently in Lucid's plans. "It would 
seem," Lucid'declared, "that a basis 
does exist for splitting Bolschwing 
away from ODEUM and at the same 
time making the action work to AIS 
[American Intelligence Service] 
advantage. For example, he might be 
able to break into the future official 
Austrian IS, at the same time remain­
ing a collaborator of ours," Lucid did 
have some reservations about 
Bolschwing. "The suggestions regard­
ing Boischwing," he wrote, "should 
not necessarily be taken as an indica­
tion that we regard him as a topflight 

o~:l.tive. As a matter of fact, he may 
be, but if this is the case, he has 
apparenrly managed to keep a bushel 
handy for concealment purposes." , 
Lucid also added, "Always giving the 
devil his due"he may indeed have 
great poteqtialities which could be 
nursed along, particularly in the 
political field. His proposal for the 
establishment of Balkan coverage 
contains no.thing really startling, 
except perhaps through 'the volumi­
nous claim to contact with all of 
those named.,,9 (5) 

Lucid's mixed feelings about 
Bolschwing echoed earlier senti­
ments expressed by the CrG. A trace 
request to Headquarters from Aus­
tria in the spring of 1947 brought 
word that "Otto Albrecht Alfred 
Bolschwing is shady character." 1 0 

Upon receipt of this information, the 
counterintelligence chief in Austria 
responded, "Mter considering the 
information on subject provided by 
Headquarters, together with Heidel­
berg's reply to our inquiry, we have 
decided not to use subject in any 
capacity. No approach will be made 
to him." He added thac'''we will 
make an effort, however, to be kept 
informed on his activities, particu­
larly with regard to the CE aspect." 11 

(5) 

BoIschwing's Background 

Bolschwing's personal history was, 
indeed, "not the best." 12 Born in 
1909 in Prussia, the son of a noble­
man, he was orphaned at an early age 
when his father was killed in action 
on the Eastern Front during World 
War r. As a young man, Bolschwing 
worked with several trading compa­
nies and other businesses in 
Germany, Great Britain, and else­
where in Europe, He set out to make 
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his fortune in the British mandate 
territory of Palestine, ~here he 
became embroiled in early Nazi intel­
ligence activities in the Middle 
East. 13 (U) 

Bolschwing's own "life history," 
(written for CIA in the fall of 1949) 
contained a number of fanciful exag­
gerations about his activities 
following his return to Germany in 
the mid-1930s.14 While he denied 
his Nazi past and claimed that he 
always resisted the regime in his state­
ments to CIA, Bolschwing actually 
worked for the section of the 
German Sicherheitsdie~st (SO) deal­
ing directly with the "Jewish 
problem." In 1940, Bolschwing took 
over the post of 5D representative in 
Bucharest, Rumania, where he sup­
poned Iron Guardiscs in their 
abortive January 1941 coup attempt 
against Ion Antonescu. Bolschwing 
undenook this action without the 
approval of his superiors in Berlin, 
thus prompting the German Foreign 
Ministry to protest the 50's interfer­
ence in the Reich's external affairs. 
Following the suppression of the 
Iron Guard revolt, Bolschwing spent 
a "few months" in confinement in 
Germany. His arrest and imprison-

"iHe"'iFaS.:'W"c;l.l";w; hi';:subsequinf;­
demotion in the 55 later enhanced 
his self-projected image as a Resis­
tance fighter-an aspect that he 
played up by obtaining certificates 
from US Army units attesting to his 
underground activities at the end of 
the waL I5 (S) 

Bolschwing's statement in 1949 that 
"my politiCal ideas were not on a 
nationalistic but European basis, any 
small-scale nationalism (chauvinism), 
to my mind is antihistorical, I further 
saw and still see no chance of individ­
ual European nationalism in a mo~al 
fight against world communism" 

" By early 1950, CIA decided 
to take Bolschwing as an 
agent despite some initial 

reservations. 

" 
failed to convince CIA about his 
trustworthiness. 16 One report noted 
that "most evaluations ofB (based 

- ,almost without exception on study of 
biography rather than personal associ­
ation) run as follows: self-seeking, 
egotistical, and a man of shifting 
loyalties. His protests of democracy 
and, more particularly, feelings of 
Austrian nationalism seem to contra­
diq his history."I? (5) 

Another observer wrote, "He is an 
adventurer, a lover of intrigue, and a 
wire-puller who is fond of power." 
Furthermore, "Bolschwing states that 
in his position in Rumania he was 
able to frustrate many of the evil 
designs of the Nazi regime, but it 
should be remembered as a black 
mark against him rather than a point 
in his favor that he arranged the 
escape of [Hoda) Sima and others at 
a time when these men were at the 
height of their crimes. " The report 
added, "if one adds to these objec­
tions the difficulties inherent in 
Bolschwing's involvement with polit­
ical reporting on Austria, it is hard to 

see how, among all our other com­
mitments, much could be gained by 
having MOB [Munich operations 
base] take him over as the principal 
agent for three Rumanian 
projects." 18 (S) 

The Rumanian projects in question, 
ODEUM Projects 114,115, and 
116, involved members of the Iron 
Guard faction under Constantin 
Papanace. Based primarily in Italy, 
the group broke away from the main 
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,.,..body ofHoria Sima's Iron Guard 
movement while quarantined in Ger­
many during the war. Bolschwing's 
ODEUM projects claimed to have 
widespread political and military cov­
erage throughout Rumania through 
his Iron Guard contacts. 19 After 
reviewing Bolschwing's potential, 
James H. Critchfield, chief of CIA's 
Pullach operations base (POB), com­
mented, "We are convinced that 
Boischwing's Rumanian operations, 
his connections with the Papana<;e 
group, his internal Austrian political 
and intelligence connections, and, 
last but not least, his knowledge of 
and probable future on ODEUM's 
activities in and through Austria 
make him a valuable man whom we 
must control,,20 (5) 

CIA Takes Bolschwing 

By early 1950, CIA decided to take 
Bolschwing as an agent despite some 
initial reservations. In late January, 
Bolschwing met with Gehlen and dis­
cussed the terms of his leaving 
ODEUM. Bolschwing, in turn, 
informed US intelligence about this 
development, and Critchfield then 
spoke with Gehlen about the details 
of Boischwing's departure.21 Ironi­
cally, Critchfield found that 
"UTILITY [Gehlen] expressed con­
viction that the Papanace connection 
is of great value and should be sal­
vaged" and that he "strongly 
recommended that the AIS in some 
way establish connection with 
Boischwing and attempt to obtain 
from him a comprehensive descrip­
tion of these operations." 
Consequently, Critchfield directed 
C .J \, Bolschwing's first 

case officer, to contact Bolschwing to 

learn more about his work with the 
Rumanians. 22 (S) 
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Shortly aftelWards, C :l reported 
on his contact with Bolschwing and 
provided a description of his sources; 
both Rumanian and Austrian. r:: 
-'l stated that "UNREST 

[Bolschwing's' CIA cryptonym issued 
in February 1950J has risen steadily 
in the opinion of this case officer and 
POB in the last six months ... He is 
unquestionably an extremely intelli­
gent person, an experienced 
intelligence operator, a man with 
unusually wide and well-placed circle 
of friends, acquaintances, and 
sources, and a man whose grasp of 
the political-intelligence field 
throughout the Balkans, and, to a 
lesser degree, in Western Europe, is 
of a high order.,,23 Both L ..:1 

and Critchfield were impressed by 
Bolschwing's motives to work for 
American intelligence as opposed to 
staying with Gehlen. "Probably the 
single ambition of Bolschwing," the 
chief ofPOB observed, "which is 
greater than that of playing a key 
role in Austrian intelligence is to 

become an American citizen and 
work in so~e capacity in political 
and intelligence affairs in Europe or 
in the United States as an American 
citizen. ,,24 (5) 

... ' ........ 

A CIA Coverup 

CIA's interest in Bolschwing soon 
extended to concealing his Nazi past. 
In early 1950, tlle Austrian Ministty 
of Interior investigated Bolschwing's 
status in that country (Bolschwing 
was a German citizen) and requested 
his Nazi Party records from the US 
Army's Berlin Document Center 
(BDC). When Pullach received word 
from CIA's Berlin operations base 
(BOB) about this request, it immedi­
ately asked that his file be withheld. 
A BOB officer, Peter M. F. Sichel, 
agreed to pull Bolschwing's records 
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and hold them separately, although 
he warned that Bolschwing was 
prominently mentioned in the "Ger­
man Primer.,,25 In a revealing , 
memorandum to Pullach, Sichel for­
warded his recommendations: 

1. W~ would like to draw your atten­
tion to some circumstances, which, in 
my opinion, mak~ it unwise to have a 
negativ~ file check on such persons as 
von Bolschwing. 

2. The files at the Berlin Documents 
Center as to Nazi m~bership and SS 
membmhip, as well as the SS personnel 
fil~s, ail! so complete that it is unlikely 
that any p~rson checked, who was a 
m~mb(r of either 'of the~ two organiza­
tions. would not be found in th( files. 
On top of this. the pmons you ar( deal­
ing with are so w(ll known and their 
background so well publicized in the 
past that J de~ it improbable that you 
can protm them from their past history. 

3. At the end of the war. we tried to be 
smart and changed the name of several 
m~bers of the SD and Abwehr in 
order to prote;t them .from the German 
authorities and the occupation authori­
ti~s. In most cases, these persons were so 
well known that the change in name 
compromised th~ more than if they 
were to face a denazification court and 
face the judgment which would have 
been meted out to them. Meanwhile, 
the developments in G~rmany and prob­
ably also in Austria have been such that 
membership in the SS, in the SD, or in 
the Abwehr no longer is regarded as a 
strike against any personality. Since I 
regard it impossible to keep secret such 
associations, except in cases where a per­
son was a clandestine agent of a given 
organization, I request you to reassess 
the advisability of withholding 

ifl/Ormation available in the Berlin 
Documents Center. 

4. For the record, I would like to state, 
however, that we can withhold such 
information if tkired. 26 (S) 

c. ...:J commented on CIA's 
effortS to obscure the German's Nazi 
background: 

UNREST requested us to extract 
or block files which he believed 
were in the Berlin Document 
Center, to prevent their being -
sent to Austria in case of a , 
request for th~. This was done. 
These files, of which we have a 
copy, show that UNREST 
became a member of the 
NSDAP in 1932 with the num­
ber, 9842i2. This is mentioned 
in his personal history. He was a 
member of the SD Hauptamt 
and in 1940 was promoted to 
Obersturmfoehrer, in 1941 to 
Hauptsturmfoehrer. In February 
1945, he was demoted to 
enlisted man in the SS and 
thrown out of the organization. 
UNREST explains in his autobi­
ography that he received in 1935 
a predated membership in the 
party which made him appear to 
have b~en a m~ber since 1932. 
Subject was arrested by the 
Gestapo first in the winter of 
1937-38, later in 1942 in 
Greece, and in September 1942 
in Vienna, when he was sent to 
Berlin and held in a Gestapo 
prison until April 1943. No 
records of these arrests app~ar in 
the file from the Berlin Docu­
ment Center. UNREST's 
statement in his personal history, 
"that he held no real SS member­
ship and that his party 



membership was somehow myste­
rious» reftrs probably to the fact 
that, as an SD man, he automat­
ically became a member 0/ the 
SS and that he received his party 
membership in 1935, but ostensi­
bly belonged beginning in 1932. 
We believe that further explana­
tion of UN RESTs SD, SS, and 
NSDAP connections are in order 
and will request that he provide 
it. We will later acplore 
UNREST's reasons for keep in;; 
these files ftom the Austrians. 7 
(S) 

r:.. ..::I soon learned that 
Bolschwing's ostensible reason for 
having the Americans deny his Nazi 
record to the Austrian Government 
centered around his own suspicious 
business activities in that country. 
Bolschwing worked in an American­
sponsored firm,' the Austria Verlag 
Gmbh, but he ran into tax problems 
with the Austrians. As matters devel­
oped, CIA denied Bolschwing's 
BDC file not only to the Austrians 
but also to the Army's 430th CIC 
Detachment and the Criminal Inves­
tigative Division (CID). This 
problem dragged on through 1950, 
~~:tCQ.cung'CIA'toreqtiest 
CID's assistance in stalling any Aus­
trian investigation of Bolschwing. 28 

While both CIA and CID decided 
against taking any action in 
Bolschwing's favor, CID declined to 
pro.vide any assistance to the Aus­
trian probe. The Austrian 
Government apparently dropped the 
case by th,e end of 1950 through lack 
of evidence.29 (S) 

Performance Questions 

In the midst of Bolschwing' s legal' 
problems, CIA also expressed dissatis-

" CIA was disappointed with 
what little information 
Bolschwing provided 

, about his operational 
activities. 

" 
faction with Bolschwing's overall 
performance. Given a new 
cryptonym of USAGE in March 
1950, Bolschwing failed to redirect 
his efforts to expand his coverage in 
southeastern Europe; he preferred to 
supply "political information, largely 
overt" about internal Austrian mat­

'ters. "This," Critchfield noted in 
August 1950, "is quite contrary to 

ouf desires, since our primary inter­
est is in fact .in thefialkans and not 
in Ausrria." At a meeting with 
Bolschwing that month, Critchfield 
told him explicitly: 

USAGE must immediately shift 
his emphasis not only to clandes­
tine operations into the Balkans, 
but within this field must get 
down to the business of reporting 
detailed operational information 
and bridle his own tendencies to 
produce political and sociological 
studies, interestingfrom an his­
torical and academic point of 
view, but not the type of mate­
rial which will ensure 
continuance of his salary. The 
history 0/ the Legionary Move­
ment in Rumania, which he has 
been preparing for from four to 
six months, will be of interest 
and possibly add some new infor­
mation on the subject. However, 
USAGE must first establish his 
position with us as a clandestine 
operator before we are willing to 
finance the exploitation of his 
intellectual interest in the Bal­
kan problem, 30 (5) 
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Bolschwmg reacted with surprise to 
the American discontent with his 
"reporting," and he insisted that "his 
Austrian coverage and connections as 
the aircraft carrier from which he can 
operate into the Balkans." He prom­
ised, however, to expand his contact 
with Papanace's Rumanian sources 
as well as activate two operations in 
Hungary.31 Bolschw~ng, in fact, trav-· 
eled to Rome with Austriall Iron 
Guard leader Ion Magarit to consult 
with Pap an ace about resurrecting 
nets throughout Rumania and 
Greece. Bolschwing, posing as US 
Army Capt. Albert A. Eisner (CIA 
provided this cover), never fully 
reported the results of his Rome trip, 
and nothing really came out of his 
collaboration with the Iron Guard­
ists.32 (S) 

CIA was disappointed with what lit­
tle information Bolschwing provided 
about his operational activities. 
Bolschwing did provide source iden­
tities in his networks, although the 
Agency dropped ~he Papanace con­
nection in early 195 1 as too 
expensive and duplicative of informa-' 
rion already obtained in Italy. 33 

Pullach baSe also questioned the 
effectiveness of his ongoing Austrian 
projects and proposed Hungarian 
projects. In the summer of 1951, the 
Agency summarized that "it seems 
apparent that while Pullach relations 
with USAGE have been cordial, and 
while USAGE has professed to be 
completely cooperative, Pullach has 
not been much more successful than 
ZIPPER in terms of overall results." 
POB's Critchfield added, "There 
appears to be little hope that he will 
ever develop into a first-class 
agent.,,34 (S) 
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CIA Transfers Bolschwing 

Rather than drop Bolschwing as an 
unproductive agent, Pullach base 
transferred USAGE to the Salzburg 
operations base (SOB) in Austria. 
The Agency made this move after 
much discussion among Pullach, 
Salzburg, Vienna, and Washington 
because Headquarters felt that 
Bolschwing was better suited to 
report'on internal Austrian matters 
than he could on activities behind 
the Iron Curtain. Headquarters 
wanted Detachment 35, a special' 
joint CIA and CIC unit in Austria, 
to determine if Bolschwing should 
be retained by American intelligence. 
James Critchfield had initially sup­
ported the CLA's takeover of 
Bolschwing from Gehlen. Only a 
few months later, he now expressed 
serious reservations about the Ger­
man agent. 

If an agency takes him over with­
out knowing his past, they will 
inevitably be bogged down in a 
series of "assessment periods" and 
grandiose schemes employing 
scores of people to exploit shad-

...!1:f!l.figur:! i,! th~ !arg~t area..~!a 
~'iMifhn'tS which' never seem to 

materialize. They will be faced 
with large payrolls for piddling 
returns, and masses of paper on 
all the relatively incons1suential 
aspects of his operation. 

His new case officer in Salzburg, ~ 
.::l . however, found 

Bolschwing.to be "reliable, efficient, 
amenable to direction, and can be 
increasingly guided into activities 
directly supplementary to Austrian 
station activities.,,36 After complet­
ing a polygraph examination in April 
1952, c:. .:Jreported to Headquar" 
ters that USAGE "is genuinely 
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" Bolschwing's new case 
officer accepted his 

explanation about his Nazi 
past without qualms or 

unusual questions. 

" 
devoted to the United States; he pos­
sesses truly extraordinary energy and 
efficiency; and he will cheerfully 
accept and is anxious to receive direc­
tion and guidance." C. ..:J excused 
Bolschwing's previous failure with 
Pullach base because "it would 
appear that his past sins-which 
were in any event chiefly the result of 
lack ~f thorough direction-may be 
forgiven." In C ..:::J eyes, 
Bolschwing "may be <:onsidered one 
of the most valuable assets of the Aus­
trian station."37 Bolschwing's new 
case officer accepted his explanation 
about his Nazi past without qualms 
or unusual questions. (S) 

SOB had big plans for Bolschwing, 
who now claimed to have several 
new projects, including penetration 
operations into Czechoslovakia, intel­
ligence sources on the Soviets' 
strength in their zone in Austria, con­
tacts with Austrian police, and 
political parties.38 For the next two 
years, Bolschwing (now known as 
GROSSBAHN after his transfer to 
Salzburg) assisted CLA in gaining 
intelligence on Soviet order of battle 
while also providing support to 

SOB's other collection operations 
against the Soviets. Bolschwing 
worked for CLA under a loose jour­
nalist or publishing cover with seven 
subagents. In early 1953, CLA esti­
mated the total yearly cost for 
Project GROSSBAHN (including 
Bolschwing and his sources) at 
$20,000.39" (S) 

'(;'oing to America 

Bolschwing's main activity during 
this period focused on gaining admit­
tance to the United States. In early 
September 1952, C ..:J concurred 
with several other CIA officials that 
Bolschwing should depart Austria for 
America for security purposes.Not-
ing his ':tong and faithful service for 
US intel.ligence,:' C. ~ felt that 
"the granting of citizenship and con­
tract agent clearance to 
GROSSBAHN would permit him to 

concentrate his full energies on opera­
tions and his own support problems 
and to integratehis activities directly • 
with DYCLAIM [CLA] systems and 
targets." c.. ~ the chief 
of SOB, concurred in this recommen­
dation and added: 

We are certainly aware of the 
exceptional measures we are ask­
ing in GROSSBAHN's case, but 
we feel that the action will be 
most beneficial to the operations 
of this base. GROSSBAHN is an 
exceptional individual and 
offer.s, we believe, sufficient long­
range potential to warrant 
extraordinary measures to get 
him on the team. He is devoted 
to United States interests, vitally 
interested in and capable of long­
term intelligence work, and has 
all the earmarks of a professional 
intelligence operator and execu­
tive. Coupled with his 
demonstrated loyalty and reliabil­
ity, these qualities make him a 
very rare bird, and one we 
should go to considerable pains 
to exploit. 40 (5) 

To support Bolschwing's immigra­
tion, r::. :l prepared a packet of 
material pertaining to Bolschwing 
and his intelligence work. Among his 



various reports, BolsChwing wrote 
another autobiographiCal account of 
his life, Nazi activities, and work for 
the Resistance. After reciting his 
story (in a more embellished form 
than his 1949 account), Bolschwing 
now exclaimed "I may also state that 
I have never been in the pay of SS or 
the party or the German Govern­
ment, and I flatter myself that at 
least in this respect I am an excep­
tion ... 41 (S) 

Upon the receipt of C ::J packet, 
Headquarters commended Salzburg's 
efforts to provide better security for 
its operations and personnel, 
alchough Bolschwing's proposed 
immigration also raised several 
issues. Officials in Washington 
expressed concern whether the Aus­
trian station understood the legal 
requirements for a foreigner to gain 
an immigrant visa and obtain US 
citizenship. The' process, Washing­
ton declared, was not as simple as 
just bringing Bolschwing to America 
for three months and then returning 
him to Austria. On another note, 
Washington asked what advantages 
Bolschwing would have as an Ameri­
can citizen and a long-term agent in 
Austria as opposed to his current sta­
.w.s~ [l()tl:!.~ 4desk pffiq:rWQl'fied 
that Bo~hwing could become dissat­
isfied once he came to the United 
States. As a note of caution, Head­
quarters warned that "in the event. 
that it is finally decided to go 
through with the proposed course of 
action, GROSSBAHN should clearly 
understand that we do not and can­
not assurn.e unlimited responsibility 
for him."B (5) 

The Headquarters communique 
engendered more discussion in Aus-
tria. 44 l... ..::J Bolschwing's 
latest case officer, detailed in a 
lengthy memorandum about SOB's 
reasoning behind Bolschwing's 

immigration to the United States in 
the-spring of 1953. c.. .:l defended 
Salzburg's course of action because 
"we fed GROSSBAHN's back­
ground and experience qualifies him 
for consideration in a position as 
~lose1y approximates that of staff sta­
tus as his citizenship status will 
allow. c.. .:J added that "we will do 
all po~ible to imprint in his mind' 
that taking the initial steps toward 
US citizenship will in no way obli­
gate us, morally or otherwise, to 
assist him in his relocation should 
the cOUrse of events force his sever­
ance with KUBARK [CIA).,,45 (S) 

In late August 1953, Headquarters 
cabled Austria and granted its permis­
sion to bring Bolschwing to the 
United States.46 The Agency, how­
ever, refused to use its special legal 
authority and warned that it may 
take some time for the INS to waive 
Bolschwing's Nazi Party membership 
and allow him to enter the United 
States. CIA also demanded that it 
wanted to terminate its association 
with Bolschwing upon his immigra­
tion "unless much stronger, more 
specific plan presented for future 
work upon return to Austria. On 
basis past performance we [are) 
unconvinced future efforts as 
recruiter will be productive enough 
to warrant undertaking sponsorship 
his return. Such sponsorship," Wash­
ington added, "(is) bound to make 
ultimate disposal much more diffi­
cult.,,47 (S) 

Consequently, the Agency took steps 
to have Bolschwing admitted as an 
immigrant under the regular Ger­
man quota, and he obtained an 
immigrant visa at the American Con­
sulate in Munich in August 1953. 
The Agency's Eastern Europe (EE) 
Division approached the Alien 
Mairs division for assistance in COOf­

dinating Bolschwing's movement 

Von Boischwing in 1953. (S) 
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with the INS. From the beginning, 
. CIA made no attempts to conceal 
Bolschwing's NSDAP membership 
or his SD service. EE, however, did 
not go into any great detail about his 
past other than repeating 
Bolschwing's own stories.48 Mean­
while, CIA in Austria "rechecked" 
third agency files, notably CIC and 
Army G-2, for references pertaining 
to Bolschwing. Two· of the docu­
ments (both derived from 
informants) pinpointed Bolschwing 
as a member of Adolf Eichmann's 
staff. 49 (S) . 

CIA reacted seriously to the local 
traces and gave Bolschwing a third . 
polygr:wh examination in September 
1953.5 Bolschwing,"a rather poor 
LCFLUTTER (polygraph) subject," 
underwent examinations for a total 
of 22 hours during three separate 
days that month. The examiner 
determined that "it appeared ques­
tions regarding subject's activities 
prior to 1945 cause more LCFLUT­
TER tension and disturbance than 
questions regarding his activities sub­
sequent to 1945." When asked, for 
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example, about his connection to 
Eichmann, Bolschwing claimed that 
he had met him only twice and 
refused to offer to join the "Eich­
mann Sonderkommando." After 
"detailed discussion" on this point, 
the examiner concluded that "it does 
not appear that subject has been 
withholding any important informa­
tion regarding Eichman[n], but, 
considering his initial reaction to the 
question, it is some minor fact 
related to the matter that subject is 
unwilling to mention."51 (S) 

When asked about any official posi­
tions that he had held with the 
Nazis, Bolschwing "produced signifi­
cant reactions every time that 
particular questions was asked." The 
polygraph operator then compared 
Bolschwing's reactions to questions 
that dealt with his activities both 
before and after the end of the war. 
"It is this examiner's considered opin­
ion that this difference is not due to 
any deception but rather to the fact 
that subject is unable to recall all the 
exact details behind all the activities 
that he_has engaged in prior to the 
war and during the war, and there­
fore becomes emotionally disturbed 
~h~Jh~r..he mightwve 
forgotten some essential point."S2 (S) 

Despite the fact that CIA had 
already told the INS about 
Bolschwing's NSDAP membership, 
Agency officials in Austria advised 
him not to admit this fact after his 
arrival in the United States. 53 CIA 
worried that if Bolschwing admitted 
this at a later date, the INS "would 
be forced, for appearances sake, to 
follow the letter of the law" and 
deport the German. Bolschwing's 
immigration visa had been procured 
solely through CIA's efforts despite 
the objections of the INS. C. 

:J also told Bolschwing not ~o 
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" B olschwing' s immigration 
visa had been procured 

solely through CIA's efforts 
despite the objections of 

the INS. 

" 
contact any member of the CIA in 
the United States, except in case of 
"dire emergency." This restriction 
included the renewal of social con­
tacts or trying to reeilter the 
intelligence business.54 (S) 

Headquarters quickly responded to 
the field station's request about what 
Bols~hwing should state about his 
Nazi record. In addition to warning 
Bolschwing against q.pplying for any 
sensitive or government jobs, EE 
elaborated on what approach 
Bolschwing needed to take in the 
United States: 

Assuming that he has not denied 
Nazi affiliations on his visa 
application form, he should defi­
nitely not deny his record if the 
matter comes up in dealings with 
US authorities and he is forced 
to give a point-blank answer. 
Thus, if asked, he should admit 
membership but attempt to 
explain it away on the basis of 
extenuating circumstances. If he 
were to make a false statement 
on a citizenship application or 
other official paper, he would get 
into trouble. Actually, GROSS­
BAHN is not entering the 
United States under false circum­
stances, as ODURGE [INS} will 
have information concerning his 
past record in a secret fife. He 
will enter legally under an 
ODURGE interpretation of the 
provisions of the immigration 
law applicable to his case. (Of 

",. course, we are asking that they 
grant such a favorable interpreta­
tion.f5 (S) 

By the end of 1953, Bolschwing's 
only real duties invQJ.ved his prepara­
tion to leave Austria with his wife 
and son. He had already turned over 
his agents t.o CIA ca~e officers, 
although SqB expected his depar­
ture to be.delayed until January 

. 1954. The layover required an exten­
sion ofBolschwing's immigrant visa 
which expired in December 1953.56 

The base; meanwhile, tied up loose 
ends-a chore complicated once 
again by the fact that Bolschwing 
had never paid Austrian taxes. The 
Agency circumvented this dilemma 
by having Bolschwing and his house­
hold baggage leave the country under 
the identity of Capt. Albert D. Eis­
ner-a CIA pseudonym that 
Bolschwin3 had used in his earlier 
tax battles. 7 (S) 

In wrapping up its affairs with 
Bolschwirg in Austria, CIA summa­
rized the course of events that 
resulted in his immigration. "It was 
the consensus of opinion (Headquar­
ters, VOB,.and SOB) that agent's 
time in Austria had been used UPi he 
was too badly compromised and too 
well identified as being a KUBARK 
agent in all circles." 1:- ::J stated that 
"GROSSBAHN was told that his 
days of usefulness in Austria were 
rapidly drawing to a close, and, if he 
were ever to realize his ambition of 
getting to the States and becoming a 
US citizen, now is the time to do it." 
CIA also advised Bolschwing that "if 
he did not accept the terms being 
offered to him at present, no guaran­
tee could be made as to his ultimate 
future."S8 (S) 



As he left Austria foqhe United 
States {under the sponsorship of-Roy 
Goggin, who had met Bolschwing at 
the end of the war}, the German 
agent expressed his pleasure: "I have 
regarded it an honor to serve the 
United States and its government, 
and I fee! utmost gratitude that 1 am 
admitted to the United States to 
become a cicizen.,,59 Bolschwing and 
his family quickly settled in America. 
Writing from his hotd in New York 
City to his CIA point of contact, 
Bolschwing admitted, "1 do wish to 
express my thanks for the excellent 
arrangements with the immigration 
authorities. We were called for on 
the boat and the chief inspector, who 
was in possession of a govt. memo­
randum signed by Assistant 
Commissioner Hogan, personally. 
saw to our immediate being passed 
through all formalities.,,60 (5) 

With a sigh of relief, Headquarters 
reported the safe arrival of 
Bolschwing in New York to Agency 
personnel in Austria. EE Divis!on 
stated "it seems difficult to believe 
that the GROsSBAHN case is at last 
at an end, and we sincerely hope that 
he has said a permanent good-bye to 

in .ss,!ligence ~ctivi.~ies."~ I }3<>.!~~h:ving 
~~.aetr into ao-n:ew routme-m 

the United States, working with vari­
ous firms in New York and 
California; he became an American 
citizen in 1959. (5) 

Boischwing's Ties With Eichmann 

Following the apprehension of Adolf 
Eichmann in 1960 and his subse­
quent trial and execution in Israel, 
the CIA examined its records con­
cerning the "architect of the Final 
Solution." J c:. .J of the 
Counterintelligence Staff discovered 
that Bolschwing actually played a 
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CIA-provided US Army ID card in the name of Capt. Albert A. Eisner. (5) 

larger role in the 55 than he had pre­
viously admitted. At the same time, 
some of Bolschwing's former CIA 
contacts in Austria, including C. 

::J grew suspicious of GROsS­
BAHN's claims. In 1961, C.:J 
stated that one of Bolschwing's 
agents had proven "fraudulent" fol­
lowing Boischwing's departure to the 
United States.62 The Agency, how­
ever, did not take any action against 
Bolschwing'after learning about his 
false record, beyond asking him to 

withdraw his application for a US 
Government-sponsored position in 
India.63 In 1963, Headquarters 
informed its German station and 
bases that Bolschwing would be in 
Europe on a private visit and that he 
had no connection with the 
Agency.64 (S) 

SLU Discovers Bolschwing 

Over a decade later, in 1978, 
Bolschwing came to the attention of 

the Special Litigation Unit (SLU) of 
INS during its investigation of the 
wartime role of Valerian Trifa, a 
Rumanian Iron Guard leader, and 
now a bishop in the United States. 
Eugene M. Thirolf, an SLU attor­
ney, inquired about certain German 
officials posted in Rumania in 1941, 
and he requested information from 
CIA on Otto Albrecht Alfred von 
Bolschwing, a German SS captain 
and the sP's representative in Bucha­
rest during the early years of World 
War II.65 Thirolfs request raised 
.alarm bells in CIA because of 
Bolschwing's extensive record in the 
Agency. A quick review of these files 
by both CIA and Martin Mendel­
sohn, SLU's chief, revealed that 
Bolschwing "may not have been 
totally frank when he neglected to 

mention past membership in the 
Nazi Party" upon ~plying for natu­
ralization in 1959. By early 1979, 
SLU launched a separate investiga­
tion of Bolschwing's immigration 
and his wartime activities; ironically, 
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Mendelsohn had initially planned to 
use Bolschwing as a witness against 
T rifa. C :::l an attorney . 
with CIA's Office of General Coun­
sel, warned in early March 1979 that 
an investigation of Bolschwing 
threatened the Agency because a pre­
liminary examination of his records 
raised a number of" obvious ques­
tions" about his relationship with 
CIA over the years.67 (5) 

I 

OSI Enters the Picture 

Jeffrey Mausner took over the 
Bolschwing investigation for the 
Department of Justice's new Office 
of Special Investigations (OSI) in the 
summer of 1979 and continued to 
examine the Agency's holdings.68 By 
November 1979, Martin Mendel­
sohn approached CIA with several 
urgent questions regarding its affilia­
tion with Boischwing. In light of 
OSI's imminent suit against 
Bolschwing, the Department of Jus­
tice was concerned whether CIA had 
any objections to the legal proceed­
ings or if the German could 
blackmail the Agency. Mendelsohn 
also expressed uncertainty as to 
~u:ial.s.:.mighttestif:r.. 
on Bolschwing's behalf in view of his 
close connections with the Agency.69 
(S) 

In January 1980, representatives 
from the CIA's Office of General 
Counsel (OGC) and the Directorate 
of Operations (DO) held a meeting 
with OSI to thrash out Mendel­
sohn's questions. Speaking for the 
Agency, the DO's c..... '::1 

said that CIA did not plan to assist 
Bolschwing with his defense. Given 
the fact that Bolschwing's knowledge 
of CIA operations was dated, C ;l 

doubted that the Agency had to 
worry about any form of blackmail. 
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" Pressure mounted in 1980 
as famous Nazi-hunter 

Simon Wiesenthal 
announced Bolschwing's 
presence in the United 

States. 

" 
c.. ::l warned, however, that the 
Agency did not know what 
Bolschwing's case officer, c: 

:J had told him when applying 
for a visa because' L .:l had since 
died. Likewise, the DO noted that 
the INS possessed an "auxiliary" file 
on Bo~chwing at the time of his 
departure from Austria; neither CIA 
or the INS, however, <;auld locate 
these records. The Agency expressed 
concern about this fact in the event 
Bolschwing's attorney subpoenaed 
all CIA material relevant to the 
case.70 (S) 

Mounting Pressure 

Pressure mounted in 1980 as famous 
Nazi-hunter Simon Wiesen thai 
announced Bolschwing's presence in 
the United States.71 Despite C. ~ 
verbal assurances in January 1980 
that CIA had no objections to OSI's 
suit, the Agency failed to report this 
in writing. Pressed by OSI's new 
director, Allan A. Ryan, Jr., for an 
answer to his office's letter of 3'0 
November 1979 about Bolschwing, 
CIA delayed any formal answer until 
the summer of 1980. At that time, 
OGe attorney C- -::J 
tried to clarify some of OSI's con­
cerns about the Agency's standing on 
this case and the availability of its 
records for use in court. He reiter­
ated t:..- ..:l point that "CIA has no 
objection to the initiation of proceed­
ings against von Bolschwing. Indeed, 

ot!l"'position on this matter is 
neutral, and our only interest is to 

protect sensitive and classified infor­
mation concerning our former 
relationship with von Bolschwing."n 
(S) 

OS! still expressed great anxiety 
about the Agency's knowledge of 
Bolschwing's background at the time 
of his immigration in the mid-1950s. 
OS1's concerns resulted from . 
another Nazi war criminal case 
when OSI dropped its suit against a 
former CIA agent because of the dis­
covery of corroborating evidence in 
Agency files. Jeffrey Mausner submit­
ted an eight-page letter to the 
Agency in which he emphasized that 
"most of our cases are based on a 
claim that the defendant misrepre­
sented his Nazi background at the 
time of his entry into the US or at 
the time of his naturalization. It is," 
Mausner wrote, "therefore important 
to know exactly what INS, State 
Department, and CIA knew about 
von Bolschwing at the time of his 
entry and naturalization." OSI asked 
that the CIA search its records for 
any "preliminary-questionnaire" used 
by the State Department's consular 
office in Munich to process his visa 
application in the second half of 
1953. Likewise, the Department of 
Justice asked the Agency to produce 
an expert witness to discuss the 
recordkeeping procedures of the 
Alieri~Affairs Staff of the 1950s in 
order to testify as to how this office 
interfaced with INS. OSI clearly 
wanted to avoid any controversies 
regarding "third agency" material in 
CIA files. 73 (5) 

The Agency, however, could not sat­
isfy OSI's requests because the 
passage of time had rendered it diffi­
cult to reconstruct the complicated 
twists involved with Bolschwing's 



immigration. t:.. ..:1 __ was dead, and 
officers familiar with the work of the 
Alien Mfairs Staff in the early 1950s 
had long since retired. While the 
Agency identified third agency mate­
rial within its files and sent copies of 
these documents for review by the 
proper officers (including the State 
Department, Army, and NSA), CIA 
could not reconstruct the "auxiliary" 
file on Bolschwing.74 (5) 

In early 1981, OSI held an "on the 
record" interview with Bolschwing at 
his home in California. Represented 
by his son, attorney Golman V. von 
Bolschwing, OGC's C- ..::J. 
and the DO's L- ::J also 
attended the meeting. After discuss­
ing procedural issues, "Gus" 
Bolschwing did most of the talking 
and tried to defend his father's 
actions after nearly half a century. 
He labeled OSI's actions as "hypoc­
risy" because the details of 
Bolschwing's life had been known to 
American authorities before his 
arrival in the United States. " ... and 
so I wonder as I sit here," the 
younger Bolschwing asked, "does the 
means justify the end? Do two 
wrongs make a right? It is just as dif­
%-~~~J~!her=..a.c thi~p_oi&tJo 
prove his case, to disprove pieces of 
paper that are now 40 years old, as it 
was for certain individuals who did 
try to do justice to find and to prose­
cute Germans when there were no 
living witnesses or it was very hard to 
obtain living witnesses." 
Bolschwing's son then described his 
father's deteriorating physical and 
mental co-ndition which affected his 
ability to recollect events in his past. 
Subsequent questioning by Mausner 
confirmed that Bolschwing's mem­
ory about his membership in the 
Nazi Party and the SS was, indee~, 
fragile. 75 (S) 

OSI Files Suit 

OSI filed suit against Bolschwing in 
late May 1981 in the US District 
COUrt for the Eastern District of Cal­
ifornia. Allan Ryan and his attorneys 
linked Bolschwing's wartime activi­
ties in Germany and Rumania to 

German efforts to persecute the 
Jews. Bolschwing faced three counts 
of procuring his citizenship in 1959 
through willful misrepresentation 
when he failed to decl;ue his mem­
bership in the Nazi Parcy, the 55, the 
SO, and the RSHA-all organ.iza­
dons declared criminal by the 
International Military Tribunal in 
Nuremberg. The Department of}us­
tic~ also accused Bolschwing of a 
lack of good moral,.character for his 
actions during World War II and for 
making false testimony. The court 
ordered the former German officer 
to appear at the US Attorney's Office 
in Sacramento for deposition and to 

provide all records, photographs, or 
other documents from 1932 to 
1945.76 (U) 

Claiming Service as ass Agent 

To limit the damage to his case, 
Bolschwing presented a new twist 
which appeared in a Sacramento 
newspaper shortly after OSI filed its 
suit. Bolschwing now claimed that 
he had actually served as a "secret 
agent" for the OSS during the war. 
"It's not true," Bolschwing said, eel 
never served in the 5S or Gestapo or 
50 (the intelligence branch of the 
S5). I did serve in the ass for the 
Americans, and I did parachute into 
Austria." According to Bolschwing, 
"It was dangerous work in Germany 
(for the Americans)," In a separate 
statement, Bolschwing confided that 
he had even met William J. Dono­
van, later director of OSS in New 
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.,...York before the outbreak of World 
War II. Allan Ryan, speaking for 
051, immediately denounce.d 
Bolschwing's statement. "What he 
said is not true. Our case relates from 

, the middle 1930s through the war, 
and, during that period, he was not a 
double agent for the United States or 
anything like that. He was not affili­
ated in any wa~ with the US 
Government." 7 (U) 

Like many ofOSI's other cases, the 
Bolschwing suit presented numerous 
legal complications. Bolschwing's 
attorneys, including his son, believed 
that they needed security clearances 
to speak with him about his relation­
ship with the CIA during the 
postwar years. The defense also 
wanted access to all government 
records pertaining to Bolschwing 
which delayed the case because.nei­
ther OSI or CIA were able to meet 
the request for production. OSI pro­
tested against the need for total 
production as opposed to using only 
those government records relevant to 
the COUrt case. This prompted 
Bolschwing's attorney, Arthur J. 
Ruthenbeck, to tell the media in Sep­
tember 1981 that "my hands have 
been tied .... I'm just trying to get 
authorization for my client to talk 
with me."·He added, "We're in a real 
Catch-22 situation. One arm of the 
government prosecutes the case, and 
another says you can't talk to your 
c1ient."78 OGC':; L :::J 
saw this situation in a different light: 
"Your hypothetical inability to repre­
sent your client, based upon your 
perception of unknown contractual 
limitations, similarly suggests a desire 
to infuse this litigation with prema­
ture issues."79 Bolschwing, according 
to both OSI and CIA, was free to dis­
cuss all issues with his attorney, 
although the Department ofJustice .' 
stipulated that classified material',':'j.~;~,.:1 

..• ,'\ .•..... ":.:.:.; .. ..!.IJ 
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could not be discussed outside the 
courtroom. (U) 

Records access and the defense's 
belief that it needed special permis­
sion to speak with Bolschwing 
hampered the suit; in the meantime, 
Bolschwing's health continued to 
deteriorate. At the behest of OSI, 
c:.. .:l prepared a classified affidavit 

to support the government's motion 
for a protective order. ~ ...:3 

the DO's Information Review 
Officer (IRO), cited the need to pro­
tect critical national security 
information from unauthorized dis" 
closure as well as to protect 
confidential sources. The IRO com­
mented that the "DO files 
concerning von Bolschwing contain 
extensive information on intelligence 
methodology in use by CIA." The 
Agency, c::...:I asSerted, " ... cannot, 
on the public record in this litiga­
tion, acknowledge' the existence of 
such information without jeopardiz­
ing the sancti7c of classified 
information." 0 (S) 

CIA's efforts turned out to be unnec­
essary as OS!' s director announced 
in late 1981 that Bolschwing vol un­

~~,~d ~~.Arnyri~: .. 
citizenship after admitting his mem­
bership in various Nazi 
organizations. As a consequence, 
OSI did not take Bolschwing to 
court, although Ryan agreed that the 
aging Bolschwing, diagnosed wi th a 
"progressive neurological condition," 
could remain in the United States 
until his health improved as to per­
mit deportation. Ryan, in a prepared 
statement, refuted Bolschwing's last­
minute claim that he had served as a 
wartime OSS agent. He also noted 
that the consent decision, offered by 
Bolschwing's defense, "was made by 
this office in consultation with 
higher authorities in the Department 
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" Bolschwing voluntarily 
surrendered his American 
citizenship after admitting 
his membership in various 

Nazi organizations. 

" 
of Justice and was not reviewed by, 
or submitted for the approval of any 
other government agency."Sl (U) 

A Closed Case? 

The case ended in March 1982, 
when Bolschwing died at the age of 
72 of f:rogressive supranuclear 
palsy~ 2 Despite his death, the case 
has great significance.Jor the CIA as 
it raises questions about the Agency's 
recruitment policies during the early 
Cold W-ar. During the 1970s and 
19805, the GAO conducted two 
major investigations to ascertain the 
role of Federal agencies in assisting 
Nazi war criminals.83 In addition, 
the OSI had its own cases; needless 
to say, the Nazi war criminal investi­
gations have attracted considerable 
Congressional, media, and public 
interest. The CIA, in particular, has 
been criticized for its postwar activi­
ties and secrecy. The Bolschwing 
case reinforced widespread percep­
tions that the Agency assisted Nazis 
after the war and also brought them 
to the United States.S4 Echoes of the 
Bolschwing case continue to reverber­
ate today as several members of 
Congress have presented bills to 
force the Agency to open its records 
on all Nazi war criminals and collab­
orators. (U) 
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(1997). pp. 69-84, (5). 

7. The Army's CIC, in particular, 
resented the development of RUSTY 
and the free range thac its agents 
operated in Germany. After the 
CIA's assumption of the German ser­
vice, the crc launched ics own 
i?telligence-gathering project, Opera­
tion CAMPUS, against Gehlen. CIA, 



likewise. launched-an intensive data­
gathering operation. known as 
UJDREDGER and later U]VEN­
TURE. to identifY German . 
intelligence pecsonnd and methoQs. 
The Agency also implemented a tele­
phone and mail intercept program, 
known as CALLIKAK. See· C. 

:J t:.. 
::r 

Oandespne Services Historical Series-
r::. :J DO History Staff. 1973.4 
vols. Vol. 3. pp. XI-12 through XI- .• 
21. and Vol. 4. p. XXVII'-10 contain 
specific infurmation about CIA's col­
lection program. Name trace requests 
and results for UJDREDGER are 
found in DO Records. Job r:. 

:l Box 1. Folders 10-17. CIA 
ARC (S). 

8. Chief of station. Karlsruhe. to Chief. 
FBM. "ODEUM and Austria: 12 
December 1949. MGL-A-945. (S). 
in Otto von BoIschwing. file c:.. 

::J DO Records. This Same 
document is .also found in DO 
Records. Job C. ~ Box 5. 
Folder 5. CIA ARC (5). 

9. Chief of station. Karlsruhe. to Chief. 
FBM. "ODEUM and Austria." 12 
December 1949. MGL-A-945. (5). 
in Bolschwing, c.. ::l (S). 

10. Washington to Vienna. Heidelberg, 
27 March 1947. (5). in BoIschwing. 

__ """= L -=z .. 6,e.a1S'o.s~ Con­
trol DIVISion to Commanding 
Officer. Austria. "Otto Albrecht 
Alfred von Bolschwing," 25 March 
1947. X-9573. DO Records. Job 
c::. ..::r Box 6. (no folder 

listed). CIA ARC (S). 

11. Security Control Division. Austria 
to Chief, FBM. "Otto Albrecht 
Alfred Bolschwing," 16 April 1947. 
(S), ih Bolschwing, r..... .:J (S). 

12. Undated. unsigned. typed note in 
Bolschwing, c... :.:l (5). 

13. A synopsis of Bolschwing' s life and 
N azj career is found in All en A .... 
Ryan, Jr .. Quia Ni!igh6o~s: Prose~ut­
ing Nazi War Crimmals m Ammca 

_ (San Diego: Harcourt Brace 
'] ovanovich. 1984). pp. 218-23 9 
(U). 

14. See chief of station, Karlsruhe, to 
Chief. FBM. ·ODEUM Person­
nel-Otto Albrecht Baron von 
Bolschwing." MGL-A-507. 3 Octo­
ber 1949. enclosing Bolschwing, 
"Statement on Life History." 14 
September 1949. (S). in 
Bolschwing. C. -=:J (S). 

15. Bolschwing received certificates 
from various American units in Aus­
tria. including the 71st and 410th 
Infantry Regiments for service in 
the summer of 1945. He later 
claimed to have worked with tile 

• 44th Infantry Division from April 
through June 1945; the 103rd 
Infantry Division in July and 
August 1945; che 84th Infantry 
Division until December 1945; 
and, finally. with 3rd Army Intelli­
gence through December 1946. 
One of the officers who provided 
Bolschwirig with a certificate. Lr. 
Col. Roy F. Goggin of the 71st 
Infantry Regiment. later sponsored 
him as an immigrant (U) .. 

16. Bolschwing, "Statement on Life 
History." (U). 

17. Undated. unsigned memorandum, 
"UNREST (Bolschwing) Files." in 
Bolschwing. c... ..:1 (S). 

18. Undated. unsigned. untitled report. 
with letterhead "Central Intdli­
gence Agency Washington 25. ~ 
D.C.," in Bolschwing. c... .-I 
(5). 

19. FDM, Memorandum. "Projects 
114.115.116 (Bolschwing Ruma­
nian Projects)." 9 February 1950, in 
Bolschwing, r:. ;:I (5). See 
also c: ';:J to S. B. Bossard, 
"ODEUM Rumanian Projects Con­
trolled by von Bolschwing," 15 
November 1949, in Bolschwing, 
C. .:J (5). 

20. Chief of station. Karlsruhe. to 
Chief, FDM. "ODEUM Situation 

_. 
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Austria." 1 February 1950, MGL-A-
1198. in Bolschwing, C. ..::J 
(5). 

21. Chief of station. Karlsruhe. to 
Chief, FDM, "Interim Solution to 
the Bolschwing-Austrodeum Prob- .. 
lem: I FcbruaI)' 1950. MGL-A- '. 
1200. in Bolschwing. Co. ..::::l 
(S). Bolschwing's account of his dis­
missa/·is found in chief of station, 
Karlsruhe, to Chief, FDM. 
"Bolschwing Report--ODEUM. "1 
February 1950. MGL-A-1199. 
enclosing -Final Conversation with 
German Organizational Chiefs." 26 
January 1950. in Bolschwing, C. 

':J (5). 

22. Chief of station. Karlsruhe. to 
Chief, FDM. "Interim Solution to 
the Bolschwing-Austrodewn Prob­
lem." 1 February 1950. MGL-A-
1200, in Bolschwing t:... :J . 
(S). 

23. AUSTRODEUM II." Extract of 
Report. 20 March 1950, MGL-A-
1540. in Bolschwing. c... .::J 
(S). 

24. Chief of station. Kadsruhe. to 
Chief. FDM, "ODEUM Situation 
Austria," I February 1950. MGL-A-
1198, in Bolschwing. C :::l 
(S), 

25. Th( Gmnan Int(/ligma S(r!Jic(!. 
two volumes ofBridsh Intelligence 
reports on German Abwehr and. SOl 
SS intelligence personnel. organIza­
tions. and operations compiled 
during World War II. The "Ger­
man Primer" was used by Allied 
intelligence during the war and 
remained in use aftetwards. See 
CSHF C :::lVo!. Xl. p. 12. A 
copy of the "German Primer" is 
available in the DCIIHS flIes. (S) 

26. Chief of station. Karlsruhe, to c~ief 
of base, Pullach. "Operational F tie 
Checks," 24 April 1950 MGB-~- . 
5974. in Bolschwing, E. :::l...:) 
(S). . •.... ;:.-"'.~" ... -."--
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27. "AUSTRODEuM-n," Extract of 
Report, 20 March 1950, MGL-A-
1540, in Bolschwing. Co .=l 

(S). 

2S. At least 24 cables about 
Bolschwing's taX situation and 
CIA's effortS are located in . 
BolsChwing. c.. .:J (5). 

29. For ciA's summary: report of . 
Bolschwing's tax Case, see "USAGE 
Stams as of 15 June-1951, .. (5), in 
BolschWing ~ ..::1 An Aus­
uian report notei:l Bolschwing's 
affIliation with the "CIC" in 
Salzburg and that he did noc 
undergo denazification because of 
his claims to have been an active 
underground fighter. Report also 
states Bolschwing's SS rank and 
that he served in the SO. See chief 
of station, Vienna, to chief of sta­
tion, Karlsruhe, "Austrian Police 
Report on Otto von Bolschwing." 
12 November 1950, MAV-A-7053, 
(5), in Bolsch:ving, c.. .-:I (S). 

30. Extract, MGL-A-320S, 29 August 
1950 [Notes of meeting between 
Critchfidd and Bolschwing, 24 
Au~ 1950], (5), in Bolschwing, 

C ..:l ';ee also chief of sta-
tion, Karlsruhe.to Chief, FBM, . 
·OFFSPRING-Ausuia," 29 August 
1950, MGL-A-320S, DO Records, . __ ~-*D, C ":l .Box S;~d~5, 
CIA AR<::. (S). BOJschwing s cqde­
name changed from UNREST [0 
USAGE on 17 March 1950. See 
Cable, SO to Pullach, Karlsruhe, . 
and Vienna, our 51267,17 ' 
March 1950, (S)'in Bolschwing, 

C .:l (S). 

31. Chief of station, Karlsruhe, to 
Chief, HiIvi, "USAGEiOperational 
RepoC!, 12 September 1950, MGL­
A-3321, (5), in Bolschwing, c::.. 

:J (S). 

32. In addition to providing 
Bolschwing with a military identifi­
cation card and "dog tags, It the 
Agency also established a "back- . 
stop" military unit for Captain 
Eisner. Chief of station. Vienna. to 
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,- dUef of station, Frankfurt, 
, "USAGE-Military Cover Address," 

12Jurie 1952, MASA-1751, DO " 
Records, Job !- .;:J Box 13, 
Folder 7, CIA ARC (S). 

33. The identities of many of 
Bolschwing's contacts and Head­
quarters trace results are located in . 
his 20 1 me. Foran example. see. . 
chief of station, Vienna, to Chief. 
EE,14Mayl952, MAS-A-1644, 
enclosing the Personal Record Ques~ 
tionnaire on Dr. Anton Fellner and. 
Aiutriari'!awyer,wbo publiShed ~'. ",: . 
Nan paper, the VolltisthtT BID-, ":, •. 

bllChtn' in Ausuia before the \VU~ ... ;., " 
. He later commanded a propaganda , 
unit in'RUSsia arid became a Colonel 
in the 55. Many of Bolschwing's, 

• coiu:ac:ts and sub-agents 'shared silni­
lar bac:kgrOurids'r-The ide,nticies of: .' 
BolSchWing's agents by name and 
code number are found lri'Chief of 
base, Salzburg co'dlief ofscation, 
Vienna, MGR05SB.i\rfN Personnel 
Ic\entities." 12 August 1953, SOBI . 
644. in DO Records, Job c:. 

.::J, Box 13, Folder 7, CIA 
ARC (5). . , 

34. USAGE Status as of 15 June 1951" 
.and ·Ruinania.~}n Bolschwing. " 
: C- ::J (S)~ Donald Huefner ,', 
at HeadqUarters demanded that . 

: Pu11ach base deterrniile whit it 
'planned to do with Bolsch\Ving. ,;.,' ." 
Chief, FBM,. to chief of station,~: 
Karlsruhc,"USAGE/' 31 July . 
1951;}vfGK-W-9S97, in ... ' 
Bolschwing, t: .:l (5). 

35:' Se~ ChiJ, FDM •. tochier of sca- . 
tion, Karlsruhe, ·USAGE:25· .... 
October 1951; MGK-W-11190, in 
DO Records, Job c.. .:J 
Boxl4. Folder S. CIA ARC (5), For 
other cortcsponclence, see chief of, 
station, Vienna to Chief..FDM. 
"USAGE," 26 September 1951. . 
MAS-A-Sl1, (S), and chief of Sta­
tion, Vienna, to Chief. FDM, 
."USAGE," 28 November 1951 
MAS-A-I030. (S), in DO Records, 
Job C :;r Box 14, folder 5, 
CIA ARC. See also chief of station, 
Frankfurt, to Chief, EE, "Takeover 
of USAGE by SALZ," 5 Febru~ 

",.. '1952, MGL-A-I0265. in 
:, Bolschwing, c:. ~ (S). 

36. CwCE of station, Vienna, .to Chief,' 
EE, ·USAGE-Sahburg Base .' 
Assessment: 7May 1952, MAS~A-
1618, in Bolschwirig, C ..::a 
(S).·· " 

37. 1bia'.;B~Isd~ng's polygraph 
. report: not~!Us re.sponse as to '. 
whether he. waspjding anything . 
froniCIA .... kwould: of course,be 
r~le, if thesiibjecc hadnoth­
ing important to hide from us. He 
several times stated that his life was 
an open book to us, and we could 
askwhat we like. SensidvitY to the 
question waS not of an order that 
wOuld indicate chis man had some- i 
thing vitally important to conceal ' 
from uS but that there was at least 
one thing that he would cathel' not' 
discuss about his past.· Chief of sta­
tion, Frankfurt, to Chief, £E," .' 
"Detailed Repo~ of CARRIAGE' 
Test o(USAGE on 19 April 1952: 
21 April 1952, MGM-A-09283, in 
'~olschwing, C. .::::l (S). 

3S. Undated. lI,nsigned report of 
Bolschwing"opecatiODs al: time of 
takeOver by Sahbl,ll'g base in . 
Bolschwing, c.. ::l (S). 

39 .. Ai:riDg Chief, Projects Branch, to 
Chief...Plaru; ·Project GROSS­
BAHN (Formalization and 
Renewal), 16 FebrUarY1953, in 
BolschWing. c: ::l (S). 

40. Chief of station, Vienna, to Chief, 
EE, "GROSSBAHN-US. Citizen­
ship," 29 September 1952. EAS-A~ 

. 1r2, ill Boiscnwing, L J 
(S). 

-. ~ 

41. Ibid. Th~ Austrian station also sent 
information to Headquarters con­
cerning Bolschwing' s second wife 
and child. See chief of station, 
Vienna, to Chief, EE, "GROSS­
BAHN-U.S. Citizenship," 
1 October 1952, EAS-A-ll3. in 
Boischwing, L .:l (S). 



42. Chief, EE to chief of station, 
Vienna, "GROSSBAHN-U.S. Cit­
izenship," in Bolschwing, C. 

:\ (S). 

43. Ibid. 

44. US attempts to procure Austrian cit­
izenship for Bolschwing were . 
abortive. See chief of base, Salzburg·. 
to chief of station, Vienna,·"Groovyl 
Grossbahn Citizenship,- 14 Novem­
ber 1952, SLZ-7069~ chief of 
station, Vienna. to chief of base. 
Salzburg, "Grossbahn Citizenship," 
19 December 1952; chief of base. 
Salzburg to Chief. EE, "Gross­
bahn-Austrian Citizenship, II 8 
April 1953, EAS-A-1147; and chief 
of base, Salzburg, to chief of station, 
Vienna, "Grossbahn-Austrian Citi­
zenship," 24 June 1953, VIEN 
SOB/1200, in BoIschwing, . C; 

') (S). Bolschwing failed to 
get Austrian citizenship because he 
had not lived in the country for the 
required 10 years and from opposi­
tion within the Austrian 
Government. 

45 .. Chief of base, Salzburg, (0 Chief, 
EE, "Grossbahn-U.S. Citizen­
ship," 14 April 1953. EAS-A-1188, 
in Bolschwing, C .::l (S). 

46. Bolschwing was not the only mem­
ber of Gehlen's staff to enter the 

~~~:ttes~Ftir a'llSt:":6fiib~twar 
German intelligence service person­
nel residing in America. see C~ief, 
EE, to chief of base, Pu11ach, 
"Former ZIPPER/UPSWING Per­
sonnel in the U.S.," 21 December 
1956. EGIrW-2995, DO Records, 
Job c... :::J Box 2, Folder 38, 
CIA ARC (S). 

47. Cable, DeI [0 Senior Representa­
tive Austria. OUT 84658, 28 
August 1953, in Bolschwing, C 

::1 (S), 

48. Chief, EE. to Director of Securiry. 
ATIN: Alien Affairs Officer, 
"Request for Aid in FacilitatingUS 
Entry for Agent," [undated). in: 

Bolschwing, C ~ (S).See 
-alSO!C ..;) to·t::.. 

;l "Mechanics of AIding Agent 
to Obtain US Visa," 19 May 1953, 
in Bolschwing, E: ~ (S). A 
note at the bottom 9f this page 
states CIA anticipated problems in 
obtaining visa becadse of 
Bolschwing's Nazi Parry affiliations 
(S). 

49. Chiefofbase to Chief, EE. "Otto 
von Bolschwing-LocaJ Traces," 28 
September 1953. EASA-2171. inJ 
Bolschwing. c: ..::l (S). 

50, Bolschwing's first polygraph took 
place in April 1952. and a second 

• test ocCurred in May 1953. when 
CIA learned that one of his agents 
had been in tOllCh with Wilhelm 
Hoettl, a former SS officer and 
notorious intelligence peddler. See 
Chief, EE to chief of base. Salzburg, 
"Grossbahn-CC-2." 26 Novem­
ber 1952. EAS-W-82; chief of base. 
Salzburg to Chief, EE "Grossbahn­
CC-2," 2 February 1953, EAS-A-
770; and chiefof base. Salzburg, to 
Chief, EE. "Grossbahn-General 
Security." 6 May 1953, EASA-
1310, in Bolschwing, . L. ..::l 
(S). ' 

51. 1:- .-=z. to chief of operations. 
Salzburg, "LCFLlJITER Test of 
GROSSBAHN," 29 September 
1953, SIM/89j and Cable, Senior 
Representative Austria to DCI, IN 
22563,30 September 1953;. c:.. ~ 
to Chief. EE, "Resume LCFLUT­
TER Test of Grossbahn," 15 
October 1953, EAG-A-2210. in 
Bolschwing, C ...:l (S). 

52. Ibid. 

53. The CIA also informed the State 
Department about Bolschwing's 
immigration and Nazi record. See 
Cable. Senior Representative Aus­
tria to DCI, IN 35971, 20 
November 1953. in Bolschwing,' 
C .;l (S). 
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",r' 54. Chief ofbase, Salzburg. to Chief. 
EE. "GROSSBAHN-Termina­
cion," 29 October 1953 .. EAS-A~ , 
2412, in Bolschwing.. z::. :::J 
(5). 

55. Chief, EE, to chief of base. 
Salzburg and chief of station, 
Vienna, MGROSSBAHN-Termi­
nation, 24 November 1953. EAS-
W-576. in Bolschwing. C- . 

::J (S). 

56. Chief of base, Salzburg, to Chief. 
EE, "GROSSBAHN-Progress 

. Report for the Period 1 October to 
30 November 1953." 10 December 
1953. EAS-A-2619, and chief of 
base. Salzburg, to Chief. EE, 
"GROSSBAHN-Termination," 
10 December 1953, EASA-2619. iIi 
Bolschwing. J: ..:J (S). 

57. Chief of base. Salzburg. to Chief. 
EE. "GROSSBAHN-Final Termi­
n~tion Report,- 27 January 1954. 
EAS-A-2869, in Bolschwing •. C. 

::) (5). 

58. Ibid. Bolschwing received termina:- • 
rion benefits of $400, including a 

• bonus of six months' pay as well as 
free transportation on the S5 
Andrea Doria from Genoa. Italy. to 

New York. Chief. EE to FIIPlans, 
"Termination of Project GROSS­
BAHN." 22 December 1953, in 
Bolschwing, C ..:z (S). At I 

tf:!e conclusion ot. the proJect. CIA 
had 55 reels of microfilm of . 
Bolschwing reports with an addi­
tional 10 reels of indexes dating 
from 1948. See Memorandum for 
Record, c::. ":\ Records 
Integration/Projects UttJcer. 
"GROSSBAHN Files (5ALZ-CIA­
PRO-I)." 16 January 1956, in 
Bolschwing, C. ":::l (5). all 
the microfilm material is located in 
DOIIMS. Central Files Branch. In 
addition to a large 201 file. exten­
sive records pertaining to 

Bolschwing collected by SOB sur­
vive as SALZ-CIA-PRO-l and are 
now filed as DO Records. Job r:... 

:J. Boxes 9. 13. and 14; CIA -
ARC (S). .~ .'." ::,::::'?" .. : ... " 
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59. For Bolscbwing's-~ponsorship, see 
chief of base. Salzburg. to chief of , 
mission. Germany. ·GROSS~ " 
HAHN-Termination,· 23 October 
1953. EASA-2381. in Bolschwing. , 
c.. .::l (S). Bolschwing's note, 

found in his 201 me (S). / 

60. , Bolschwing to. ·Sidney R. A~, ", , 
2 FebruaIY 1954, in Bolschwing.. Co 

:l (S). ' 

61. chief. EE: to chij' ~lbase, 
Salzburg. [no'tide. no date], EASW-

, 679. in Bolschwing. 1:. -:1 (S). 

62. C. ~ to C 
::J MInge von (fer T ann, " 

[undated Co 1961J. Office of Genera1 
,Counsd (OGC) Records, Job Co 

:J Box 2, Folder 29, CIA 
ARe (S). ' 

63. Gordo~ M. Stewart, Chief, Eastern 
Europe Division, to DDP, ,"Otto 
Albrecht Alfred von Bolschwin{!." 1 0 
May 1961.QGC Records, Job C 

;::J Box 2, Folder 29, CIA 
ARC (5). 

64. Cable, Headquarters to Frankfurt, 
DIR 70116,19 September1963, 
OGe Records. Job Co ...:J. Box 
2; Folder 29. CIA ARC (S). 

, -.. §2. C- • ", . .::J .. to.~!:.. . 
. ,-'- .:l 'OG~:-1"8 Ju1y-tu 0;- CO . 

1421. with attachment dated 9 
August 1978. OGe Reeords.}ob c. 

.., Box 2; Folder 29. CIA 
ARC. ~ .::r·aIso sought informa­
tion on BorisT. Pasb, a US Army 
officer detailed to CIA at various 
times. and two other Germans, 
Arthur A. Konradi and Dr. Heinrich 
Graf von Meran. 

66. c.. ...J 'to Marcin Mendd-
sohn, 2 February 1979, OGe 79-
01118, OGC Records, Job t c. ..:J 
Box 2, folder 29, CIA ARC (S)'-

67. Fer a discussien ef the early aspects 
ef this case, see C. .lte Genera) 
Ceunsel, "Otro Albrecht Alfred ven 
Belschwing-Possible vielation ef 18 
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~{JSC 1001 and 1015 (False State­
ments to the U.S. Government): 12 
MarCh 1979. (5). t'-~ added some 

, comments 'to this memo in APril ' 
,1979 that shed further information 
about the early Bolschwing invesciga­

'cion. See L ..:r·ttO~ C :J 
~Attached Memorandum on Otto, 
Albrecht Alfred von Bol,sChwing. " 5 ' 
April 1979. (G. bom documents in 
OGC Records. Jot c. ..J , Box 
2. folder 29, CIAARC (5). 

68.'iv{en~hn to 1 c: ::r 16 July " 
1979.OGC79-06581; : C . 

.;:1 • to 1: ..JfCDepartrnentof 
Justice Investiganon of alleged Nazi 
War Criminals-Otto Albrecht von 
Bolschwing." OGC79-07460, 13 
.Au~t 1979. (S); _ C. -=t 'frO 

, c ....J 22 Augustl979, OGC 79-
07895. (S); aile. t:..:J to C -::l 
26 October 1979, OGC 79-0~()~b, 
(S), all documents in OGC Records, 
Job c: ..:J Box 2, Folder 29, 
CIA ARC (S). 

69. Menddsohn to C .:J 30 
November 1979, OGC 79-10974, 
OGC Records. Job t:.. ..:J, Box 2, 
Folder 29, CIA ARC (S). 

70. c::.. ..:J. Memorandum for the 
, Record, -Meeting with Department 

of J ustice Representatives on Alleged 
Nazi War Criminals Otto von 
Bolschwing and Tscherim Soob-, " 
wkov,"17 January 1980, OGC ~O~ 
00581, OGC Records, Job C 

.::J Box 2, Folder 29, ClAARC 
(S). 

71. Bulletin of Information No. 20, 31 
January 1980, Doltummtationszm­
trum des Bunde!, Judischts Vtrfolgttr 
des NazireEimts in OGe Records, 
c.. :J , Box 2, rolder 29, 
CIA ARC. In a routing sheet to 
OGC, c..-:1 annotated, "FYI. It 
looks like the start of a campaign to. 
get Von Belschwing" (S). 

72. See Allan A. Ryan, Jr., to C-:r 3 May 1980. OGe 80-0492, (S) 
ant C ..J reply, [. ..J to Ryan, 
12 June 1980, OGe 80-04978, (S), 

..,.. 
both in OGe Records. Job 85-
00903. Bolt 2. Folder 28 CIA ARe 
(S)~ For background infomiacion 

,abOUl C. ..:11 response, 
Set C ;l to c.. ..;:J~Depart­
ment of J uscice Questions : 

, concerrung Otto von BolschWing," 2 
, Apcil1980. OGe 80-02813, OGe 
" Records. Job c:.. .:l Box 2, ' 

Folder 29, CIA ARC (S). 

73. '~ausner. "Otto von Bolschwing.·. 
28 AU2USt 1980;, and C ~ to " 
c.::J -Meeting with DOJ Repre-
sentatives cOncerning their, ' 
Investigation of Ed gars Lai,penicks , 
and Otto von Bolschwing. 2 Sep~, 
tember 1980, OGe 80-07543. (S); 
Note to, C. -:J , "OttO von 
Bolschwing." [undated]; and C. 

, ::l Director of Security to 
c:.. ...7J ·Depamnent of JUstice 
Request rei Nazi War Criminals Inves-
tigation of Ono Albrecht von ' , ' 
Bolschwing..· 19 September 1980, 
OGC 80-08078, (S), all documents 
in OGC Records, Job C. ..::J 
Box 2, Folder 28. CIA ARC. (S) 

74. The identity and location of the 
"auxiliary" me remains a mystery. 
OSI reviewed Bolschwing's 201 file. 
but it is uncertain if they ever saw 
SOB's files pertaining .. totheGerman 
agent. For ,further description of 
these project mes and Bolschwing's 
inicrofilm records, see Note 58 
abo~.{U) 

75. c.. .:::J to c. 
.:J 13 February 1981. OGC 81-

01452, enclosing Sworn Statement 
ofOno Albrecht Alfred von 
Bolschwing, A8-610-051. 2 February 
1981. in aGC Files, Job l:. 

.-:I Bex 2, folder 25, CIA ARC 
(Sj. 

76. US v. Otto Albmht ALfrtd von 
Bo/Schwing, Civil Actien 5-81-308 
MLS, United States District Ceurt, 
Eastern District of California, 27 
May 1981. See also US v. Bouchwing, 
Norice of Taking Depesition, 5 June 
1981, both decuments in OGC 
Records, Job l:- -:l Bex 2, 



folder 25, CIA ARG. OSI apparently 
dropped the charge of willful misrep- ) 
resentacion but retained the immoral 
. conduct charge. See C. ..::J to Wil­
liam F. Donnelly, "United States v. 
Otto Albrecht von Bolschwing,· 29 
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